IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67.330

FILED
FEB 13 1986
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

TIMOTHY MICHAEL JOYCE.

Petitioner.

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

Respondent

On Petition to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to
Review Decision of the District Court of
Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

BRIEF OF PETITIONER
ON THE MERITS

MILTON M. FERRELL, JR.
Attorney for Petitioner
66 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 371-8585

TOPICAL

INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, TIMOTHY MICHAEL JOYCE, was the appellant in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, and the defendant in the Circuit Court. The respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the appellee in the Fourth District and the prosecution in the Circuit Court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as the defendant and the State respectively. The symbol "R" represents the record on appeal. The decision sought to be reviewed is reported at 468 So.2d 1011, and will be referred to herein by the symbol "D" followed by the page number of the Southern Reporter. All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant, along with seven co-defendants, was charged in an information filed May 27, 1982, with (I) trafficking in cannabis; (II) conspiracy to traffick in cannabis; and (IV) possession of a firearm while engaged in a felony offense (trafficking). (R. 2864-A).¹ The trafficking offense encompassed in count I alleges that the defendants had in their actual or constructive possession in excess of

¹Co-defendant Ronald Matheson, charged with the identical offenses as the defendant, with the exception that he is charged in Count III with the possession of a firearm while engaged in a felony offense (trafficking), also sought certiorari review in this Court. See Case No. 67,331. This Court entered an order on August 20, 1985, ordering both cases consolidated "for all appellate purposes." The defendant respectfully adopts all arguments raised by co-petitioner Matheson in his brief filed in this Court simultaneously with the filing of this brief.

100 pounds but less than 2,000 pounds of cannabis on May 7, 1982. (R. 2864).

The defendant filed or adopted² several Motions to Dismiss prior to trial. (R. 2868-71, 2896-2926, 2939-43, 2944-47, 2990-92). The motions challenged the constitutionality of a "reverse sting" operation on due process grounds and the language of the conspiracy charge embraced in count II of the information. The trial court denied all of these motions. (R. 47-71, 221-24, 236, 250, 782-3, 2948, 3010). The defendant was tried together with co-defendants Ronald Matheson, Harry William Dietrich, and Robert Bieleau Loos.³

Trial by jury commenced before the Honorable Arthur J. Franza on November 29, 1982. The trial was concluded on December 16, 1982, when the jury returned verdicts of not guilty as to trafficking (count I), guilty as to conspiracy to traffick (count II), and guilty of carrying a concealed firearm, a lesser included offense (count IV). (R. 3019-21). The court adjudicated the defendant guilty (R. 3049), and sentenced him to nine years on count II, and five years on count IV, to run concurrently (R. 3051-53). The defendant

²From the inception of the proceedings, it was established that any motion or objection by one party was deemed adopted by all. (R. 149, 224, 822-823, 1331).

³Prior to trial, on October 5, 1982, four co-defendants, Gerald Michael Laboda, Franklin Harry Scholes, Albert Richard Adams, and Robert Glenn Gibbs, pleaded guilty. (R. 161).

filed several timely post-trial motions and adopted those motions of co-defendant Joyce. (R. 2962-64, 2966-7, 2968-9, 3028-9, 3030-34, 3054-5). The court denied all post-trial motions. (R. 2840, 3038, 3056-7). The defendant timely filed his appeal to the Fourth District which resulted in a decision affirming his judgment and sentence. The defendant's timely rehearing petition was denied. This certiorari proceeding followed.

This prosecution arose out of a "reverse sting" conducted by the Fort Lauderdale Police Department, whereby the police obtain large quantities of high-grade marijuana from unrelated seizures, pose as "large scale marijuana suppliers" and through the use of informants, locate "buyers" for the confiscated marijuana only to arrest the would-be purchasers as soon as the "sale" is consummated. (R. 856, 1123, 1335, 1669). It is purely up to the discretion of the informants as to which prospective defendants to bring into the operation; here, none of the prospective purchasers for the marijuana was particularly targeted by the police department in advance or the subject of any ongoing investigation. (R. 238, 1641). There is no established policy within the Fort Lauderdale Police Department by which such "reverse stings" are to be conducted. (R. 1236, 1671-2). In conducting the "sting", the police have no prior information as to the predisposition of the prospective buyers in any given case and, in this prosecution, they had no evidence of defen-

dant Joyce's predisposition prior to his arrest on May 7, 1982. (R. 238, 1048, 1633-4, 1641). In a reverse sting, the police "sell the contraband as opposed to a buy when the police buy it and get it off the street." (R. 1669).

In the operation of a sting, samples of marijuana are distributed through the informants into the community and not retrieved. (R. 157, 237, 1671-2). In this case, at least three separate samples of marijuana were given to one of the co-defendants, the first weighing some 3.2 ounces. (R. 157, 867-8, 870, 872, 1549, 1671-1672). These samples were circulated into the general population never to be retrieved by the police. (R. 238). The marijuana utilized to sell to the buyers is taken from other seizures (R. 762, 782-3, 886), and in this case, three of the six bales ultimately "sold" came from other sting cases (R. 329-30, 1215).

In the particular sting operation here, the police agreed to "front" a quantity of marijuana, here 300 pounds, in addition to the marijuana to be "sold", as an inducement to get the buyers to accept the deal. (R. 239-40, 898-9, 1030). Another aspect of the "reverse sting" is that the police, in virtually every case, attempt to sell over 100 pounds of marijuana in order to reach the threshold quantity for a trafficking prosecution. See R. 236-250.

Prior to trial, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss attacking the constitutionality of the reverse sting operation. (R. 2868-71, para. 20). Extensive argument was

heard and police depositions were stipulated into evidence (R. 221-24, 236-250); the court ultimately denied the motion to dismiss (R. 250, 2948). The court, however, twice expressed its feelings on the matter: ". . .I don't particularly like reverse stings. I think that the police have better things to do." (R. 248). "[T]hese sting operations -- you know the police could do something better with their time than to do this unless the defendants had a real propensity and were disposed to commit the crime and that they were known organized crime figures or something else." (R. 1750).

The operation in the case at bar began on April 30, 1982, when a confidential informant, who later became known as Sandy Ryan, introduced Detectives Gregory Kridos and Scott Israel to co-defendant Dietrich. (R. 861). Dietrich purportedly⁴ represented himself to be a marijuana broker who had four or five buyers interested in buying large quantities of marijuana. The detectives delivered a 3.2 ounce sample of marijuana to Dietrich's apartment on one occasion (R. 1549), and on two subsequent occasions, delivered other comparable samples (R. 868, 870, 872).

Detective Kridos testified that on May 7th, Dietrich

⁴Co-defendant Dietrich ultimately testified on his own behalf and presented an elaborate entrapment defense. (R. 2012-2022, 2258-2350). The jury acquitted co-defendant Dietrich of all charges. (R. 2808-2809). The jury also acquitted co-defendant Loos of all charges. (R. 2809).

called him and told him that a girl named "Gail" in Miami had two buyers for 700 pounds of marijuana. (R. 875).⁵ Later that day, Kridos sent Detective Israel to meet co-defendants Scholes, Laboda, and Gibbs at Dietrich's house. (R. 877-81). Kridos stated that the buyers were going to leave their money at a Howard Johnson's motel, and that the marijuana would be delivered to Dietrich's residence. One of the buyers (Laboda) would accompany Israel to the hotel to see the money, while the other buyers were inspecting the marijuana. (R. 882-84).

The plan thus proceeded and the two detectives, Kridos and Israel, along with the assistance of other Fort Lauderdale police officers, took co-defendant Gibbs' pick-up truck to the police marijuana shed and loaded it with 812 pounds of marijuana. (R. 884-5). The two detectives then returned to Dietrich's house where co-defendants Scholes and Gibbs selected some six bales out of the 21 bales contained in the truck for purchase. (R. 904). It was Gibbs who had provided the truck and who gave the keys to the undercover officers; in fact, Gibbs was "running this show." (R. 1026, 1556).

Detective Israel, accompanied by co-defendant Laboda,

⁵These two buyers named by "Gail" were later determined to be co-defendants Gibbs and Scholes, from Miami. Defendant Joyce was determined not to be one of these two buyers. (R. 1052).

drove to the Howard Johnson's hotel where the money was to be paid to Israel. (R. 1350). It was Scholes who rented the room at the Holiday Inn (R. 1026), and Gibbs who told Detective Israel that only co-defendant Laboda and Israel would be in the room at the Howard Johnson's. (R. 1026, 1345-6). Detective Kridos ascertained that the ultimate purchaser of the marijuana was co-defendant Gibbs. (R. 1052).

During the ride from Dietrich's house to the Howard Johnson's hotel, Detective Israel was wearing a Unitel transmitter which was being monitored and recorded on tape by Sergeant Jonathon Smith of the Fort Lauderdale police. (R. 1178).⁶ Sergeant Smith was following Detective Israel and co-defendant Laboda in a police vehicle from Dietrich's house to the Howard Johnson's. (R. 1178). Upon arriving at the Howard Johnson's motel, Room 318, Detective Israel found co-defendants Adams, Loos, Matheson, and defendant Joyce.

Detective Israel, "preparing for trial," had listened to a copy of the tape recording some eight to ten times, because without his use of the tape, Israel would not have been able to recall which defendant made what statement. (R.

⁶The subject matter of the tape recording thus produced by the police gives rise to a major portion of the defendant's appeal in the Fourth District and in this Court. This Statement of Facts will contain some of the pertinent factual background pertaining to the tape, while a more detailed factual recitation will appear in the argument portion of this brief, pertaining to the issue of the discovery violation, Point I, as well as the issue of the exclusion of copies of the tape for impeachment purposes, Point II.

1558-9, 1591-93).⁷

Detective Israel presented extensive testimony at trial attributing numerous incriminating statements to the various defendants in Room 118 of the Howard Johnson's motel. As observed by the Fourth District, Detective Israel "recounted the meeting in detail and ascribed several incriminating statements to each defendant." (D. at 1013). None of these incriminating statements appear on the tape recording which was admitted into evidence. See, e.g., R. 1657. Among the statements Israel attributed to the defendants are that defendant Joyce said he was hoping there would be repeat business (R. 1385), co-defendant Matheson, along with co-defendant Adams, answered Detective Israel's question in unison that Gibbs' partner was watching Israel as he counted the money (R. 1395), Laboda's statement that all of the people in the room were making money on the deal (R. 1369), defendant Matheson's statement that Detective Israel could not cut them out of the money (R. 1375), defendant Matheson's statement that he was present for security purposes to protect the money (R. 1385), defendant Matheson's use of the term "broker" (R. 1397), and defendant Matheson's

⁷During his trial testimony, Detective Israel changed his prior sworn statements made in deposition after listening to the tape some eight to ten times (R. 1700), and admitted changing his testimony regarding the sequence of events in Room 318 only after listening to the tape (R. 1591-1593). The trial court observed that Israel's "memory got better after he heard the tape. There is no question about that." (R. 1742-1743).

statement that Detective Israel would get the rest of the money when the defendants got the rest of the marijuana (R. 1406). Since none of these statements appear on the tape recording, Detective Israel's testimony comprises the sole evidence of the defendant's involvement in the conspiracy for which he was found guilty.

The coordination of events between the two locations (Dietrich's apartment and the Howard Johnson's room) was such that after Gibbs and Scholes had selected the six bales they intended to buy, Scholes telephoned the Howard Johnson's, spoke to Adams⁸ and gave permission for Detective Israel to leave the room with \$46,414. (R. 911). It was Adams who had the money, totaling \$125,000, money which belonged to Gibbs. (R. 1374, 1633-4). After Detective Israel saw the money, he telephoned Detective Kridos and, through a code, instructed him to proceed to Dietrich's apartment with the marijuana. (R. 1382). Subsequently, Israel received a call to the motel room from Detective Kridos. (R. 1400). It was during this call that the figure of \$46,414 was communicated to those in the Howard Johnson's room; this figure represented the price for the 204.8 pounds of marijuana, absent the wrappings, contained in the six bales selected by Gibbs and Scholes. (R. 909-12). At Dietrich's residence, Detective Kridos

⁸Defendant Joyce never spoke on the telephone while in the Howard Johnson's room and it was co-defendant Adams who did most of the talking to Detective Israel in the room. (R. 1642).

placed a call to his department and signaled the surveillance units to move in and make arrests at Dietrich's premises. (R. 913). Meanwhile, at the Howard Johnson's, Detective Israel left the room with the money and met with Sergeant Smith in the stairway where it was decided that Israel was to return to the room on the pretense of making a telephone call, and then the arrests would be effectuated in the motel room. (R. 1408-09).

When Israel entered the room, he was followed by Officer John Abrams, Sergeant Smith, and several other Fort Lauderdale police officers. The three remaining co-defendants in the room, Matheson, Joyce, and Adams, were arrested.⁹ Officer Abrams testified that defendant Joyce was either standing up or kneeling by a bed. (R. 1141). According to Abrams, the defendant's left hand was under a pillow and Abrams jumped on the defendant, grabbing his hands; Abrams found a blue-steel revolver under the pillow. (R. 1142). Abrams testified that Sergeant Smith seized a chrome color revolver from defendant's rear pocket. (R. 1141). Smith himself, however, testified that when he entered the room, he saw the defendant standing between the two beds with a gun in his hand. (R. 1192). As the arrests were being made at the Howard Johnson's room, other officers from the Fort Lauderdale Police Department arrested co-defendants

⁹Co-defendants Loos and Laboda had left the room earlier at Israel's insistence. (R. 1380).

Dietrich, Scholes, and Gibbs. (R. 914).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

POINT I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT A RICHARDSON INQUIRY INTO THE STATE'S DISCOVERY VIOLATION OF FAILING TO PROVIDE INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS PURPORTEDLY MADE BY THE DEFENDANT DESPITE DEFENDANT'S TIMELY DISCOVERY DEMANDS FOR SAID STATEMENTS AND WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS MISLED INTO BELIEVING THAT A TAPE RECORDING PROVIDED TO HIM CONTAINED ALL STATEMENTS, IN VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

POINT II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT THE TWO TAPE RECORDINGS IDENTIFIED AS DEFENDANT'S EXHIBITS B AND C INTO EVIDENCE TO BE PLAYED TO THE JURY TO IMPEACH THE "ORIGINAL" TAPE RECORDING ADMITTED AS STATE'S EXHIBIT 15 AND TO IMPEACH THE TESTIMONY OF DETECTIVE ISRAEL AND SERGEANT SMITH, THUS DEPRIVING THE DEFENDANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

POINT III.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CONSPIRACY COUNT WHERE THE INFORMATION WAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND INDEFINITE IN ALLEGING THAT THE DEFENDANT "INDIVIDUALLY OR SEVERALLY" CONSPIRED WITH VARIOUS CO-DEFENDANTS, MAKING IT IMPOSSIBLE TO DETERMINE WITH WHOM THE DEFENDANT WAS ALLEGED TO HAVE CONSPIRED, THUS DENYING DEFENDANT DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

POINT IV.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS ON THE GROUNDS OF ENTRAPMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW BASED ON OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENTAL MISCONDUCT ARISING FROM A "REVERSE STING" OPERATION WHEREBY THE POLICE MANUFACTURE CRIMINAL ACTIVITY WHICH WOULD NOT OTHERWISE HAVE OCCURRED AND UTILIZE METHODS WHICH CREATE A SUBSTANTIAL RISK THAT THE OFFENSE WOULD BE COMMITTED BY PERSONS OTHER THAN THOSE WHO WERE READY TO COMMIT IT, THUS DENYING DEFENDANT DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

POINT V.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL PREDICATED UPON THE TRIAL COURT'S PREJUDICIAL COMMENTS IN THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY AND THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENTS TO THE JURY WHERE SAID JUDICIAL AND PROSECUTORIAL COMMENTS DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF A FAIR TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson inquiry into the State's discovery violation requires a reversal of the defendant's conviction and sentence. The failure to provide the defendant with his purportedly incriminating statements pursuant to his express discovery demand therefor, whether inadvertent or willful, deprived the defendant of his due process rights to a fair trial. By informing the defendant prior to trial that the tape recording of the events at the Howard Johnson's motel contained all of the conversations in that room, and then, for the first time at trial, surprising the defendant with inculpatory statements purportedly made by him to Detective Israel, the State made it impossible for the defendant to confront his

accuser. The trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson inquiry is reversible error per se.

The trial court's exclusion of defense Exhibits B and C, consisting of copies of the purported "original" of the tape recording of the events in the motel room deprived the defendant of his right to due process and a fair trial by prohibiting him from impeaching both the "original" tape recording and Detective Israel's testimony which was predicated almost entirely on his repeated listening to a copy of the tape recording in preparation for his trial testimony.

The trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to dismiss the conspiracy count where the information was unconstitutionally vague and indefinite in alleging that the the defendant "individually or severally" conspired with various co-defendants, making it impossible for him to determine with whom he was alleged to have conspired, thus depriving defendant of his right to due process of law.

The Fort Lauderdale Police Department's operation of a "reverse sting" whereby undercover police provide high quality, low-priced marijuana to persons not suspected of any ongoing criminal activity, absent any established procedure, and through the method of distributing felony quantities of marijuana as samples into the community never to be retrieved, and by offering to "front" hundreds of pounds of marijuana as an inducement into the transaction, constitutes entrapment as a matter of law and a denial of the defendant's

right to due process of law. This state cannot tolerate the manufacture of criminal activity which would not otherwise have taken place but for this outrageous governmental misconduct.

The trial court's blatant statement to the jury that it disbelieved the defense expert on his ability to identify voices on the crucial tape recording, and the court's rebuking defense counsel in the presence of the jury by accusing the defense of conducting a "charade" deprived the defendant of due process of law. In addition, the prosecutor's inflammatory, prejudicial and impermissible comments to the jury concerning their children growing up in a country overrun by drugs and drug dealers, police officers risking their lives, the defendant's failure to explain why he was in the motel room with the money, the defendant's putting drugs on the street, and the defendant's laughing and walking out of the courtroom if acquitted, all served to deprive the defendant of a fair trial and due process of law, and the trial court's denial of his repeated motions for mistrial was reversible error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT A RICHARDSON INQUIRY INTO THE STATE'S DISCOVERY VIOLATION OF FAILING TO PROVIDE INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS PURPORTEDLY MADE BY THE DEFENDANT DESPITE DEFENDANT'S TIMELY DISCOVERY DEMANDS FOR SAID STATEMENTS AND WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS MISLED INTO BELIEVING THAT A TAPE RECORDING PROVIDED TO HIM CONTAINED ALL STATEMENTS, IN VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

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