Pro " or is a

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD MATHESON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 67,331

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SARAH B. MAYER Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

Government infiltration of criminal activity is a recognized and permissible means of investigation; this remains true even though the government agent supplies something of value to the criminal. This is necessary so that

the agent will be taken into the confidence of the illegal entrepreneurs. <u>United States v. Russell</u>, 411 U.S. 423, 432, 93 S.Ct. 1637, 1643, 36 L.Ed.2d 366 (1973). However, the government may not instigate the criminal activities, provide the place, equipment, supplies and know-how, and run the entire operation with only meager assistance from the defendants without violating fundamental fairness. <u>United States v.</u>
Twigg, 588 F.2d 373 (3rd Cir. 1978).

Below, as in <u>United States v. Tobias</u>, 662 F.2d 381 (5th Cir. 1981), while law enforcement provided something to the defendants, they did not provide financial aid for the operation, thus the officers' conduct stops short of violating fundamental fairness. <u>Tobias</u> at 386. As the samples below were not provided to the defendant, and as the mere provision of samples of marijuana does not rise to the level of police misconduct sufficient to violate due process, the defendant's motion to dismiss was properly denied.

Defendant complains that the conduct of the police in providing cannabis for sale was so outrageous as to be violative of the due process clause. Aside from calling the provision of cannabis to him outrageous, the defendant has pointed to no active conduct on the part of the police, aside from the willingness to sell, that induced the defendant to traffick in cannabis.

Nor can the defendant cite any authority for his assertion that the mere furnishing of contraband constitutes governmental misconduct. The cases are to the contrary.

In <u>State v. Sokos</u>, 426 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983), the defendant purchased from the police 30 cartons of untaxed and purportedly stolen cigarettes. The court found nothing in the record to indicate that the transaction was tainted by governmental misconduct. Sokos at 1045.

A more similar case is <u>State v. Briden</u>, 386 So.2d 818 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980), where the police provided the cannabis to the defendant. The court stated: "Proceeding on the premise that furnishing the contraband with which the defendant is later charged with handling, without more, does not constitute governmental misconduct,...much less the outrageous governmental misconduct which would be necessary to invoke the due process considerations discussed...in <u>Hampton</u>." <u>Briden</u> at 821.

<u>See also State v. Cristodero</u>, 426 So.2d 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

Lastly the defendant claims the police officers offered to "front" the co-defendant's 300 pounds of marijuana so as to induce them to purchase the 500 pounds. A review of the record clearly reveals that the whole proposition of the "fronting" of marijuana was suggested by the co-defendants and <u>not</u> an inducement by the police.

In the instant case the actions of the police were simply to provide cannabis to an admittedly willing buyer.

The state asserts that defendant's argument with respect to police overreaching, especially in light of the facts of this case, is without merit.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL PREDICATED UPON (A) THE TRIAL COURT'S COMMENTS AND (B) THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENTS. (Restated).

As with the issue in Point II of this brief, the state submits that this Court should not exercise its discretion to consider this issue on appeal; it is nothing more than an attempt to have a second record review of a case already resolved by the district court of appeal. State_v. Hegstrom, supra.

However, if this Court should decide to exercise its discretion and review this issue, then the state submits that it is without merit.

A) The Trial Court's Comments

The defendant contends the trial court's actions prevented him from receiving a fair trial; the state asserts the defendant's failure to request curative instructions at the time of the alleged error precludes him from asserting error now.

In the course of the instant trial, which began November 29, 1982 and ended December 16, 1982, the defense presented the testimony of Dr. Harry Hollien (R. 1777-1937). In the course of testifying concerning the tape recording of the defendants Professor Hollien had the following exchange with the court:

THE COURT: Can you tell the difference between their voices?

THE WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: Well, I can. (R. 1864).

Rather than request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks, defendant immediately sought a mistrial (R. 1864). However, a mistrial is a device used to halt the proceedings when the error is so prejudicial and fundamental that the expenditure of further time and expense would be wasteful if not futile, <u>Johnsen v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1976) as cited in <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982).

As stated in Ferguson:

Even if the comment is objectionable on some obvious ground, the proper procedure is to request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks.

Though the court's comment herein may have been objectionable, the error could only be preserved if instructions to the jury were requested by defendant and refused. The error was clearly remediable by instructions to the jury and defendant's failure to request such instructions precludes him from asserting this error on appeal. The trial court below correctly denied the motion for mistrial since such a motion is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge and "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and should be

done only in cases of absolute necessity." <u>Salvatore v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 366 So.2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1978) as quoted in <u>Ferguson</u>,

<u>supra</u>. The trial court therefore properly denied defendant's motion for mistrial.

Defendant also contends that the trial court erred in not granting his motion for mistrial when, following an objection by one defense counsel, another defense counsel objected to the objection and the trial court stated:

THE COURT: Why don't you two have a little meeting and decide what your real objection is so we can hear it?

MR. FERRELL: Judge, we're being tried separately. I don't represent his client, and he doesn't represent mine.

THE COURT: But you're officers of the court.

MR. FERRELL: Yes.

THE COURT: And you can play that charade every time with every question.

MR. FERRELL: It is not a charade, Judge. I've said from the beginning that I represent only my client here.

THE COURT: Correctly. Correctly.

As with the above allegation that the trial court erred in not granting a mistrial, defendant should have requested curative instructions to remedy the situation. See Ferguson, supra. A mistrial was not an absolute legal necessity under the cricumstances of the instant case and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. See Johnsen and Salvatore, supra.

B) The Prosecutor's Closing Argument

Defendant asserts a variety of comments by the prosecutor in his closing argument as reversible error.

The state asserts that none of these comments, either individually or when taken together, constitute error at all, much less fundamental error.

That the trial of this case was bitterly fought is an understatement. There were four defendants and four defense counsel; some defendants put on defenses, some did not. One defendant even took the stand himself. The trial took 16 days; by closing arguments emotions were high, tempers were flaring and patience was shot.

In examining the prosecutorial comments of which defendant complains it is first necessary to place his quotes back into context.

The state objects to the defendant making any effort to construe the first quote as inappropriate. The sentence, when placed back in context, is a reiteration of a comment made by defense counsel. The full quote is:

The statement about, "So you want your children to grow up in this kind of society, where this goes on?" Let me ask you a question. Do you want your children to grow up in a country over-run by drugs and drug dealers, or do you want your police to do their job?" (R. 2524).

The comment is in direct reply to one made by defense counsel in closing:

MR. DRESNICK:You want to grow up like this? You want your children to grow up like -- "Hey, want a joint?" "Sure, I'll take a joint." Bust that kid. (R. 2439).

If a prosecutor is not entitled to respond to statements made by defense counsel, then the state fails to understand the meaning of the word rebuttal. Furthermore where defense counsel has "opened the door" to a topic is then appropriate for the prosecutor to comment on that topic. See Ward v. State, 58 So.2d 146 (Fla. 1952); Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976); Testasecca v. State, 115 So.2d 584 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1959).

The second, third and fifth complained of comments by the prosecutor pertained the drugs ending up on the streets (R. 2656), to the officers risking their lives enforcing the law (R. 2526-2527, 2659), and that the defendant would laugh at the system if acquitted (R. 2658), while not favored, were clearly insufficient to sway the jury.

Recently, this Court in <u>State v. Murray</u>, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984), held that "prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether 'the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial.'" Id at 956.

The state asserts the comments complained of were not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. This is

particularly true in light of the following quotes which typify closing arguments in the instant case:

> MR. DRESNICK: Detective Israel, Detective Kridos, Sgt. Smith, all said this is a new technique, this reverse sting. It's nothing new. They could have asked Adolph They could have asked Joseph Hitler. Stalin. They could have asked Fidel They could have asked Joseph Castro. Azristofsky (phonetic). They could have asked any of those people, and they would say, "You think this reverse sting is a new technique?" Every totalitarian government that ever existed knew what it is. You bust whoever you want to bust. You go out, and you plant the seed. one of us is safe, not for a second. (R. 2438-2439).

> MR. SALANTRIE: You consider this irresponsible investigation and the testimony by these agents and the inconsistencies and contradictions and the fabrications and "I don't recalls", that should create such a reasonable doubt in your mind, ladies and gentlemen, such a significant doubt in your mind. The biggest fabrication, ladies and gentlemen, is the fact that this whole case was fabricated by the police. It's not a figment of their imagination, but it was fabricated by them. They told Sandy to make the introduction. Right. They set the fire by distributing a half pound of marijuana into the general populace. They negotiated extensively with Gibbs and Scholes and Laboda. They supplied all the drugs. All of them came from the police. The Ft. Lauderdale Police Department Police Officers, ladies and gentlemen, instead of pursuing their sworn obligation to stop crime, prevent crime, and protect its citizens opted to create crime, manufacture it, and entrap its citizens, specifically Mr. Dietrich. Ladies and gentlemen, just that should be more than sufficient to create a doubt. (R. 2609-2610).

MR. DRESNICK: They are too numerous for me to mention. And I'm not going to hit you over the head with it, because I know you all saw it. It was as clear as anything I've ever seen in any trial. The man is a liar and perjurer and ought to be charged. (R. 2450).

Defendant asserts that within the circumstances of this case the remarks of the prosecutor can hardly have been so inflammatory as to sway the jury, or to vitiate the entire trial.

The law requires a new trial only in those cases in which it is reasonably evident that the statements...were so inflammatory and abusive as to have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict...than it would have otherwise... Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976). It is noteworthy that one of the defendants in the present case was acquitted; apparently the jury had a mind of its own.

Defendant also complains that the prosecutor improperly commented on his right to remain silent and his failure to call witnesses. The entire context is as follows:

MR. NEAL: It says not unlawful for officers or employees of the State of Florida, Federal Government to possess while acting in their official capacity. And I think there is additional language. If you find they were acting in their official capacity -- you listen to the instruction as the Court gives it to you.

What I'm telling you is that contrary to what defense counsel had told you, the police officers were not breaking the law. They were enforcing the law. We may not agree with the way they enforced it or with the law itself, but that's not what we're here to decide. The legislature makes the law. The people vote for the legislature. That's the way we handle the law in a civilized society.

We've heard an awful lot about what the police did or did not do, whether their memories are any good. But what we haven't heard from any defense counsel is why their clients conspired to violate the drug trafficking laws, why two of them carried these guns. We haven't heard any explanation for that, and we haven't heard why --.

The state asserts that this comment in its correct context is a proper reference by the prosecutor to the jury on the evidence or absence thereof. In White v. State, 377 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1980), the Supreme Court of Florida held that a prosecutor's comment in closing. "You haven't heard one word of testimony to contradict what she has said, other than the lawyer's argument." was not error. The court stated: "It is thus firmly embedded in the jurisprudence of this state that a prosecutor may comment on the uncontradicted or uncontroverted nature of the evidence during argument to the jury. White at 1150. State v. Jones, 204 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1967); Helton v. State, 424 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Smiley v. State, 395 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Smith v. State, 378 So.2d 313 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

Further, even if this can be construed as a comment on the defendant's failure to testify, the comment was

harmless in light of the evidence adduced as to defendant's guilt. State v. DiGuilio, 10 F.L.W. 430 (Fla. August 29, 1985).

At trial Detective Israel testified as to the events leading to his meeting Defendant Joyce, in a Howard Johnson's motel room, in the company of co-defendants Laboda, Loos, Matheson and Adams (R. 1332-1374). Mr. Israel was at the motel room to count money which was to be used to purchase marijuana (R. 1372). When he entered the motel room Detective Israel expressed his concern that so many people were in the room (R. 1372). He asked that some leave but none left (R. 1373). Mr. Adams told Detective Israel that he had the money in a paper bag (R. 1374). When Israel said he was going to leave with all the money (R. 1374), Defendant Matheson strenuously objected along with Mr. Adams, saying "That ain't happening. You're not cutting us out." R. 1375). Detective Israel identified Matheson and Joyce as persons in the motel room (R. 1378). Detective Israel testified Joyce told the others in the room "that it would be okay if Harry took out the money." (R. 1379). Harry was a reference to Mr. Scholes; a co-defendant and co-conspirator Laboda stated that all the people in the room would be making money on the deal (R. 1369). The circumstances shown in the instant case were sufficient, when viewed in the light most favorable to the state, to uphold a conviction for conspiracy. Joyce was not merely present at the scene of an

offense. He participated in the conspiracy to obtain the marijuana by seeking to facilitate the transaction. See R. 1379. Proof of conspiracy may be inferred from appropriate circumstances. See, Resnick v. State, 287 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1973). Conspiracy is an expressed or implied agreement between two or more persons to accomplish a criminal offense. See, Ramirez v. State, 371 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979). Joyce's participation in the events at the motel room and the acknowledgment by a co-conspirator that all there would benefit financially (R. 1369), clearly supports the trial court's denial of defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal. Clearly the prosecutor's comment, if indeed one on the defendant's assertion of his right to remain silent was harmless at best.

Courts have also held that the trial judge is the person who is in "a position of experience and intimacy with the case which cannot be duplicated by any other tribunal."

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